1987

Walter K. Gilmore v. Salt Lake Area Community  
Action Program, Hal J. Schultz, Robert E. Philbrick,  
Fred Geter, Richard Fields, Ann O'Connell, John  
Does 1-30 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This is a non-domestic relations civil case. The Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah, granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denied Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. The matter was appealed to the Supreme Court of Utah, which transferred jurisdiction to the Court of Appeals.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues in this case are:

1. Does a written personnel policies manual issued by an employer operate as a contract, express or implied, between employer and employee or give rise to contractual rights, express or implied, between employer and employee? Specifically here, is the Personnel Policies Manual issued by the Defendant Salt Lake Community Action Program (CAP) a contract, express or implied, with Plaintiff Gilmore?

2. Does a written personnel policies manual issued by an employer limit the employer's right to fire an employee or limit the manner in which an employee may be fired? Specifically here, does CAP's Personnel Policies Manual limit CAP's right to fire Gilmore by requiring that certain procedures concerning termination be followed?

3. Does an employer breach its contract with an employee when the employer fails to comply with the rules, regulations and procedures laid out in the company's policies and procedures manual? Specifically here, was the contract with Gilmore breached?

## DETERMINATIVE RULES AND REGULATIONS

Plaintiff Gilmore claims that certain rules and regulations contained in the CAP Personnel Policies Manual issued by his employer were not complied with when his

employment was terminated. The pertinent provisions of the Manual are included in the Addendum of this brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal in a non-domestic relations civil case, seeking reversal of a final ruling granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denying Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment.

##### COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS, DISPOSITION BELOW

Plaintiff Gilmore originally filed a wrongful termination of employment suit in United States District Court for the Central District of Utah. Various causes of action alleged violation of Gilmore's civil and constitutional rights and breach of his employment contract.

The Federal District Court found an absence of the state or federal action required for constitutional and civil rights suits and dismissed the suit for lack of jurisdiction. Because the federal claims were dismissed, the pendant state claims (the contract action) were also dismissed without consideration. The 10th Circuit Court upheld the dismissal.

Within one year of the 10th Circuit's final ruling, Plaintiff filed an action in the Third Judicial District

Court for the State of Utah, pursuant to Utah's tolling statute, Utah Code Annotated 78-12-40. In the state suit, Plaintiff Gilmore alleged, among other things, wrongful termination of his employment based on breach of his express and/or implied contract with his Defendant employer.

All defendants named in the state suit had been named in the federal suit; some additional defendants in the federal suit were not included in the state suit. By agreement of the parties, all depositions originally taken in the federal case were filed for use in the state action.

Plaintiff Gilmore and the defendants filed motions for summary judgment. The Complaint had alleged nine causes of action. The 6th, 7th, 8th and 9th causes of action were dismissed by stipulation. At the hearing, the court, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson presiding, granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denied Plaintiff's motion on the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th causes of action. Only the 1st and 2nd causes of action involve contract issues and only the rulings on the contract issues are being appealed. (The judgment is R.547, 548, 549.)

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

NOTE: The following facts are as alleged in Plaintiff's memorandum supporting his motion for summary judgment, R.60-73. (Plaintiff's motion was denied.) No additional facts are alleged here and no changes have been made that would affect or alter the meaning of any fact or inferences that may be drawn. In their response memorandum below, Defendants argued that 8 of these facts were in dispute, R.127-130. However, in a reply memorandum, Plaintiff demonstrated that the arguments offered by Defendants were illusory and did not actually contradict or refute any fact Plaintiff has stated. That reply memorandum is the final document in Vol.II of the record as prepared by the lower court. However, the memorandum, although timely filed as shown by the court stamp, is out of chronological order, not numbered and not included in the index. The pertinent pages of that memorandum are 9-14.

Writings, documents, Manual sections and pages of depositions cited in the Statement of Facts have been included in the Addendum and are referenced herein by A. and the page number in the Addendum.

1. Plaintiff Gilmore was hired by Defendant Salt Lake Community Action Program (hereafter CAP) on March 6, 1974, in the temporary position of accountant. On or about September 9, 1974, he was promoted to the position of fiscal director in a probationary status. He became a permanent employee in the position of fiscal director on or about January 1, 1975. [Uncontroverted. R.53-54. Evidenced by Position & Salary Record and Requests for Salary Payroll Change documents, which are included in Schultz deposition Exhibit P-36 and Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-3.]

2. Defendant Schultz at all times material herein was executive director of CAP and was the immediate supervisor of Gilmore in the position of fiscal director. [Uncontroverted. Admitted in #3 of Defendants' Answer, R.24-25.]

3. CAP was at all times material a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Utah. [Uncontroverted. Admitted in #2 of Defendants' Answer, R.24.]

4. CAP is a grantee agency of the Community Services Administration (CSA), which is the federal agency established by law to administer the Economic Opportunity Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2781 et seq. [Vanderburgh deposition, p.10, A.55. Schultz deposition, p.12, A.19.]

5. As a grantee agency, CAP receives federal funds from CSA [Schultz deposition, pp.12-13, A.19-20] and must govern its activities through a board that is constituted according to the provisions of the Economic Opportunity Act. [Vanderburgh deposition, p.11, A.56.]

6. As a condition of qualifying as a grantee agency for the receipt of federal funds from CSA, CAP was required to formulate and maintain personnel policies. [Vanderburgh deposition, p.27, A 57. Philbrick deposition, pp.8, 11; A.72, 73. Schultz deposition, p.14, A.21.]

7. With regard to personnel policies of CSA grantee agencies, including CAP, CSA instruction 6900-01(c)(5) requires that grantee agencies "give employee grievances prompt and fair consideration" and that grantee agencies "make provision for review of personnel actions." [The language of the instruction speaks for itself.]



8. CSA instructions are binding on CAP. [Vanderburgh deposition, p.29, A.58.]

9. If CAP violates CSA instructions, CSA is authorized to withhold federal funds. [Vanderburgh deposition, pp.30-31, A.59-60.]

10. Prior to the times material herein, CAP or its predecessors promulgated and duly adopted a Personnel Policies Manual, the introduction [A.9] to which states: "The rules and policies set forth in this manual shall follow in accordance with the rules and regulations established by the Office of Economic Opportunity." [Uncontroverted. The entire Manual is Exhibit P-1 to the Schultz deposition.]

11. Schultz and CAP maintained a policy of advising persons hired by CAP of the Personnel Policies Manual in order to advise employees of the terms under which they would work. [Schultz deposition, p.16, A.23.]

12. When he became fiscal director of CAP, Gilmore was informed that his employment relationship with CAP would be governed by the provisions of the Personnel Policies Manual of CAP. [R.54.] Gary Parara, who was hired by CAP at about the time Gilmore's employment was terminated, was told about the Personnel Policies Manual at the time of his hiring. [Parara deposition, p.18, A.91.]

13. On or about March 18, 1977, Gilmore's employment with CAP was terminated. He received a letter dated March

14, 1977, from Schultz, informing Gilmore that his position as fiscal director of CAP was being eliminated. [R.54. The letter, R.82 and A.1, speaks for itself and is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-4 and Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-15.]

14. At the time of Gilmore's termination, the Personnel Policies Manual of CAP was in full force and effect and applicable to Gilmore's employment and any termination of his employment by CAP. [R.54. Schultz deposition, pp.9-10, 15; A 17-18, 22. Geter deposition, pp.10-11, A.62-63.]

15. On the Utah Department of Employment Security Separation Notice (a document commonly referred to as a "blue slip"), Schultz stated the reason for Gilmore's termination as "reduction in force." [R.54. The "blue slip," R.84 and A.2, speaks for itself, is Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-17 and is part of Schultz deposition Exhibit P-36.]

16. At the time of his termination, Gilmore was a permanent fulltime employee of CAP. [R.54. Schultz deposition, p.97, A.43.]

17. Chapter VII, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual delineates the procedures for termination of employees of CAP when such termination is due to "reduction in force." Said chapter and section require that employees be given 15 days written notice specifying reasons for the

action. [The Manual chapter, R.91 and A.12, speaks for itself.]

18. The termination letter of March 14, 1977, did not set forth any facts of budgetary limitations as justification for the elimination of the position of fiscal director or any facts to show that the decision to terminate Gilmore's employment was based upon an evaluation of his seniority, performance, skills, abilities or the importance of his position. The setting forth of such facts is required by Chapter VII, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual. [R.54-55, 82, 91; A.1, 12.]

19. The termination letter did not afford Gilmore 15 days written notice of his termination, contrary to the requirements of Chapter VII, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual. [R.54-55, 82, 91; A.1, 12.]

20. On or about March 15, 1977, Gilmore filed a written notice appealing the decision of Schultz to terminate Gilmore's employment, done in accordance with the provisions of Chapter IX, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual. [R.55. The notice, R.83 and A.3, is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-9 and Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-16. The Manual section, R.94-95 and A.15-16, speaks for itself.]

21. Schultz, by letter dated March 16, 1977, denied the appeal and informed Gilmore that he would not give Gilmore a formal hearing before him. Such action was in violation of Chapter IX, Section B, of the Personnel

Policies Manual. [The letter, R.85 and A.4, speaks for itself and is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-8 and Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-13.]

22. No hearing before Schultz was held after March 15, 1977. The "hearing" referred to in the first paragraph of Schultz's letter of March 16 actually took place before Gilmore was terminated and before he received the March 14 termination letter. [R.55. Schultz deposition, pp.116-118, A.49-51.]

23. Pursuant to provisions of Chapter IX, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual, Gilmore informed Fred Geter, chairman of the personnel committee of the CAP board of trustees, that he appealed the decision of Schultz to terminate his (Gilmore's) employment. [R.55. Geter deposition, p.15, A.64.]

24. Pursuant to the appeal procedures contained in Chapter IX, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual, Geter scheduled what he called a "hearing" of Gilmore's appeal and grievance against Schultz and CAP. Geter informed Gilmore that such hearing would be conducted before the personnel committee of the CAP board of trustees. [R.55. Geter deposition, p.15, A.64.]

25. Members of the personnel committee at this time were Geter, Bernice Benns, Anita Roach, Glen Larsen and Janet Hansen. [Geter deposition, p.17, A.65.]

26. Gilmore's "hearing" before the personnel committee.

began on March 16, 1977, at which time only two (Geter and Roach) of the five committee members attended, and was continued on March 21 1977, at which time only three (Geter, Roach and Benns) of the five committee members attended. Hansen and Larsen did not participate at any time. [R.55-56. Geter deposition, pp.51, 56-57, 78; A.68, 69-70, 71. Schultz deposition, p.111, A.46. Roach deposition, p.25, 28; A.87, 88. Tape recordings of the proceedings in the possession of Defendants verify dates and who was present.]

27. At the sessions of the "hearing," Gilmore was not present at the time that Schultz presented evidence and testimony in support of his decision to terminate Gilmore's employment. [R.56. Geter deposition, pp.29-30, A.66-67. Roach deposition, p.18, A.86. Fields deposition, p.14, A.78. Benns deposition, pp.23, 40-41; A.83, 84-85. Schultz deposition, pp.64, 65-66, 111; A.40, 41-42, 46. Also verified by the tapes.]

28. During the "hearing," Gilmore was never advised of the evidence or testimony given by Schultz, was not able to confront Schultz and was not given the opportunity to rebut evidence of testimony given by Schultz. [R.56. Fields deposition, pp.16-17, A.79-80. Also verified by the tapes.]

29. Schultz gave the personnel committee a letter dated March 22, 1977, to which was attached a document outlining his reasons supporting his decision to terminate .

Gilmore's employment. [The letter is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-10.] The last time Gilmore appeared before the personnel committee was March 21, the day prior to the date of this letter. [R.56. Verified by tapes ] At no time prior to the personnel committee's reaching its decision was Gilmore shown that letter, given an opportunity to respond to it or questioned about it. [R.56.] Nor did Schultz provide Gilmore with a copy of it. [Schultz deposition, p.66, A.42.]

30. In reaching its eventual decision to uphold Schultz's termination of Gilmore's employment, the personnel committee "considered most" that March 22 letter from Schultz and "primarily" based its decision on that. [Roach deposition, p.31, A.89.]

31. Chapter IX, Section B, of the Personnel Policies Manual requires that notice of findings of the personnel committee regarding an appeal and grievance shall be given within 5 days of a hearing. Gilmore did not receive any such notice within 5 days of the so-called "hearing" on March 16 and March 21. [Uncontroverted. R.56. The Manual section, R.94-95 and A.15-16, speaks for itself.]

32. Approximately three weeks subsequent to the "hearing" before the personnel committee, Gilmore received a letter dated April 13, 1977, from Geter stating that the personnel committee "after reviewing the contents of the hearing" had decided to uphold the decision of Schultz in terminating Gilmore's employment as a "reduction in force."

[R.57. The letter, R.86 and A.5, is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-11 and Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-14.]

33. On or about April 20, 1977, the CAP board of trustees at a regular meeting decided not to review the personnel committee's handling of Gilmore's appeal. [Philbrick deposition, p.26, A.77. See last page of minutes of the April 20 meeting, which are part of Schultz deposition Exhibit P-6.]

34. On or about April 22, 1977, Gilmore spoke with Philbrick, who informed Gilmore that Schultz had given some pretty conclusive examples of Gilmore's incompetence but did not inform Gilmore as to what information Schultz had conveyed in that regard. [R.57. Philbrick deposition, p.24, A.75, where he admitted that was possible.]

35. Gilmore asked Philbrick and Geter for a rehearing on the matter. Such requests were made to both of them on several, separate occasions. [R.57. Schultz deposition, pp.112-113, A.47-48. Philbrick deposition, pp.24-26, A.75-77.] No rehearing was ever granted. [R.57 Uncontroverted.]

36. On or about August 3, 1977, Gilmore wrote to Julian Garza, counsel for Region 8 of CSA, requesting an investigation of the manner in which his termination as fiscal director of CAP was handled. [R.57-58. The letter is Gilmore deposition Exhibit D-4.]

37. An investigation was conducted by Garza. It was

determined that CAP had violated its own personnel policies manual as well as CSA regulations on personnel matters.

[Vanderburgh deposition, p.57, A.61.]

38. As a result, Vanderburgh notified Philbrick by letter dated December 20, 1978, that the Defendants had failed to comply with CSA regulation 6900-01(c)(5) in the termination of Gilmore's employment and that federal funds from CSA would be decreased by 10 per cent for the next two program years as a sanction against CAP. [The letter, R.87-88 and A.6-7, speaks for itself and is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-19.]

39. Schultz, as Gilmore's immediate supervisor, was required by Chapter V, Paragraph 2, of the Personnel Policies Manual, to make regular and periodic evaluations of Gilmore's job performance. [Schultz deposition p.27, A.29. Philbrick deposition, p.22, A.74. The Manual section, R.89-90 and A.10-11, speaks for itself.]

40. Schultz did not make regular and periodic evaluations of Gilmore's job performance. [Schultz deposition, pp.103, 143-144; A.45, 53-54. Fields deposition, pp.39-40, A.81-82.]

41. Schultz made only one attempt to evaluate in writing Gilmore's job performance. That one evaluation, dated September 27, 1976, was, in fact, never completed but was put into Gilmore's personnel file. In that incompleated evaluation, Schultz rated Gilmore's performance as fiscal



director as "Exceptional" (in three of six categories), "Above Average" and "Average," the three highest ratings, in all areas covered by the evaluation. [Schultz deposition, pp.22-25, A.24-27. The evaluation, A.8, speaks for itself and is Schultz deposition Exhibit P-2.]

42. The Personnel Policies Manual, Chapter VIII, Section C, Paragraph 5, requires that termination of an employee for incompetence or inefficiency must be "evidenced by at least two consecutive performance evaluations" and that such termination must be in writing, must specifically state the reasons therefor and must be delivered to the employee at least 15 days prior to the date of termination. [The Manual chapter, R.92-93 and A.13-14, speaks for itself.]

43. If Gilmore was discharged for incompetency or inefficiency, none of said provisions of Paragraph 5 was complied with. [Schultz deposition pp.40, 59; A.37-39.] Nor was any type of disciplinary action described in Chapter VIII, Paragraphs 1-4, ever taken against Gilmore. [Schultz deposition, pp.35-41, A 32-38.] The March 14 termination letter was the first written communication Gilmore had received. [Schultz deposition, pp.41, 59; A.38, 39.]

44. On or about March 1, 1977, Schultz hired a man named Gary Parara as "accounting supervisor" and claimed to assume the title of "fiscal director" himself. [Schultz deposition, p.129, A.52. Parara deposition, pp.24-25,

A.95-96.]

45. Schultz was not an accountant and did not have training as an accountant. [Schultz deposition, p.22 A.24.]

46. Prior to the hiring of Parara, no person held a position entitled "accounting supervisor." [R.59. Uncontroverted.]

47. Parara, in fact, assumed and performed the duties that Gilmore had performed in the course of his employment as fiscal director of CAP. Gilmore's duties were detailed in a job description, which is Exhibit P-3 to the Schultz deposition. [Schultz deposition, pp.33-34, A.30-31.] In his deposition, Parara was asked about the duties listed on the Exhibit P-3 job description and he stated that each one of those duties was assumed by and performed by him after the termination of Gilmore's employment. [Parara deposition, pp.47-55, A.99-107 ] When asked if he had additional duties and responsibilities other than those enumerated, Parara said no. [Parara deposition, p.55, A.107.]

48. When Parara began his employment with CAP, Gilmore showed him how the books were set up and showed him the accounting system. [Parara deposition, pp.22, 23, 33; A.93, 94, 97. R.59.] During his first month with CAP, Parara was involved in the preparation of a monthly financial report under the instruction of and with the assistance of Gilmore.

[Parara deposition, p.45, A.98.] And when Gilmore was terminated, Parara physically took over Gilmore's desk. [Parara deposition, p.24, A.95.]

49. At Schultz's request, it was Gilmore who oriented Parara to the CAP office. [R.59. Schultz deposition, p.103, A.45.]

50. Parara was told by Schultz that he (Parara) was replacing Gilmore. [Parara deposition, p.15, A.90.]

51. Parara was hired at a salary of \$1,018.00 per month [Parara deposition, pp.19, 89; A.92, 108.], an amount close to the salary of \$1,121.00 which Gilmore was earning at the time of his termination. [Schultz deposition, pp.102, 103; A.44, 45.]

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