1987

Walter K. Gilmore v. Salt Lake Area Community
Action Program, Hal J. Schultz, Robert E. Philbrick,
Fred Geter, Richard Fields, Ann O'Connell, John
Does 1-30 : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL OF THE BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIMS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE GILMORE'S EMPLOYMENT WAS AT WILL.

Gilmore admits that his employment with S.L.C.A.P. was for an indefinite period of time. He has not set forth any facts or presented any argument that his employment falls within an exception to the employment at-will doctrine. As a result, under the cases Bruno v. Plateau Mining Co., 73 Utah Adv. Rep. 89 (Utah Ct. App. 1987), Rose v. Allied Development Co., 719 P.2d 83 (Utah 1986) and Bihlmaier v. Carsen, 603 P.2d 790 (Utah 1979), Gilmore was an at-will employee who could be terminated for just cause or no cause, without recourse against his employer for breach of the employment contract.

S.L.C.A.P.'s promulgation of a policy manual does not constitute an implied contract of employment. The manual does not contain any terms concerning the duration of

Gilmore's employment. In Bruno, 73 Utah Adv. Rep. 89, this Court flatly rejected other jurisdictions' departures from the employment at-will doctrine in order to imply an employment contract from an employer's policies.

POINT II. THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED
BECAUSE S.L.C.A.P. COMPLIED WITH THE
PERSONNEL POLICIES.

Even if S.L.C.A.P.'s policies limited the right to terminate Gilmore at will the law does not require strict or literal compliance with its terms. If S.L.C.A.P. substantially complied with the terms of the contract so as not to compromise the interests such terms were designed to safeguard, then it is not guilty of breach of the contract. Piacitelli v. Southern Utah State College, 636 P.2d 1063 (Utah 1981).

In this case, S.L.C.A.P. substantially complied with the policies, and each of the interests the policies were designed to safeguard were satisfied or protected. A close examination of the facts shows that in some instances S.L.C.A.P.'s slight deviations from the procedures actually promoted or enhanced the interests concerned. Therefor, even if S.L.C.A.P.'s policies limited the right to terminate Gilmore at-will, S.L.C.A.P. is not guilty of a breach thereof.

POINT III. THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSING GILMORE'S CLAIMS AGAINST THE EMPLOYEES AND OFFICERS OF S.L.C.A.P. IS PROPER BECAUSE THESE INDIVIDUALS ARE NOT PERSONALLY LIABLE FOR ANY PURPORTED BREACH OF CONTRACT.

An employee or officer who acts within the course and scope of employment acts under a privilege and cannot be held individually liable for a corporation's breach of contract. Gilmore has not made any allegation in his first or second causes of action, nor set forth any facts, that the individual Defendants named in this lawsuit acted otherwise than in the course and scope of their employment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I THE TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL OF THE BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIMS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE EMPLOYMENT WAS AT WILL.

A. The Dismissal Of The Breach Of Contract Claims Was Proper Because The Employment Relationship Was Terminable At Will.

Gilmore asks this Court to reverse the trial court's summary dismissal of the breach of contract claims on the ground that the termination of employment did not comply with S.L.C.A.P.'s Personnel Policies Manual. The undisputed evidence in this case is that the employment contract did not contain any specified period of duration. When the duration of employment is not specified the

employer may terminate the employee at will, for just cause or no cause, without fear of liability. Bruno v. Plateau Mining Co., 73 Utah Adv. Rep. 89 (Utah Ct. App. 1987); Rose v. Allied Development Co., 719 P.2d 83 (Utah 1986); Bihlmaier v. Carsen, 603 P.2d 790 (Utah 1979). Inasmuch as the employment was at will, the employer did not breach any contract and the trial court's summary dismissal was proper.

The Bihlmaier case is dispositive of this issue. In that case the plaintiff, after extended negotiations, left a job in California and accepted employment in Utah to become the acting manager of a grocery store. The employer testified that plaintiff's employment was conditioned upon his activities during a trial period. Shortly after arriving in Utah the plaintiff tried to purchase a house. His loan application was refused when the employer stated on the application, "continued employment depends on applicant - hired on a trial basis only." Bihlmaier, 603 P.2d at 791. The plaintiff considered the employer's refusal to change this statement a constructive discharge and initiated a lawsuit for breach of the employment contract. The trial court granted the employer's motion for summary judgment and the plaintiff appealed. Id.

On appeal the Utah Supreme Court relied on the plaintiff's admission that the employment contract contained no express terms concerning the duration of his employment. The Court held:

When an individual is hired for an indefinite time, he has no right of action against his employer for breach of the employment contract upon being discharged. Thus, in the present case, since it was shown the term of employment was indefinite and terminable at the will of either party, even if the acts of the employer did constitute a constructive discharge of the plaintiff, the plaintiff has no right of action against the employer for that discharge. Therefore, the defendant is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law and the granting of the summary judgment motion was proper. Id. at 792.

In this case, Gilmore admits that his employment contract did not contain any express term concerning the duration of the employment. Specifically, his admission is that the contract did not specify any definite period of time of employment. R. at 575 & 581.⁶ In other words, he was hired for an indefinite time. Thus, as stated in Bihlmaier, " . . . he has no right of action against his employer for breach of the employment contract upon being discharged." Bihlmaier, 603 P.2d at 792. The trial court's summary dismissal of Gilmore's breach of contract claims was, therefore, proper because Gilmore's employment was at-will.

⁶ Id.

B. The Utah Court of Appeals and Utah Supreme Court Have Firmly Rejected Any Departures From the Employment At Will Doctrine Based On An Employer's Policies.

In two recent cases, Bruno v. Plateau Mining Co., 73 Utah Adv. Rep. 89, and Rose v. Allied Development Co., 719 P.2d 83, the Utah Supreme Court and the Utah Court of Appeals reaffirmed the employment at-will doctrine as the law of this State. Gilmore asks this Court to disregard this law on the ground that S.L.C.A.P.'s Personnel Policies Manual is the employment contract. In the Bruno case the Utah Court of Appeals firmly rejected this argument in favor of the at-will doctrine. As a result, the dismissal of the breach of contract claims was proper and should be upheld.

In the Bruno case the employer maintained a de facto personnel policy of imposing only temporary suspension as the maximum penalty for employee fighting. Bruno, nevertheless, was forced to resign for fighting in the mine. He filed a lawsuit against his employer for wrongful discharge. The undisputed evidence was that Bruno was hired as an employee at-will. Nevertheless, he claimed that the employer's de facto personnel policy created an implied employment contract which was breached by his termination. The lower court granted the employer's motion for summary judgment on the ground that Bruno's

employment was at-will and he failed to show a policy or practice that changed this term of his relationship.

On appeal, this Court noted that several other jurisdictions have departed from traditional contract principles by recognizing an implied contract arising solely from the unilateral promulgation of personnel policies, citing the lead case, Toussaint v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Michigan, 408 Mich. 579, 292 N.W. 2d 880 (1980). This Court flatly rejected this departure, stating:

However, such is not the law in Utah, which still follows the general common law rule concerning personal employment contracts: 'In the absence of some further express or implied stipulation as to the duration of the employment or of a good consideration in addition to the services contracted to be rendered, the contract is no more than an indefinite general hiring which is terminable at the will of either party.' (Citations omitted). An implied contract altering the employment at-will relationship, like other contracts implied-in-fact, would require actions or conduct manifesting the mutual assent of both parties to be bound by the certain terms of their bargain. Bruno, 73 Utah Adv. Rep. at 90.

The Court then held:

The content of Plateau's actual policy toward employees who fight is not a material fact precluding summary judgment. Even if we assume that Plateau has a de facto personnel policy of not terminating employees who fight in its mines, this practice alone is not enough to establish Plateau's intentional surrender of its right to terminate Bruno's employment at will. Id.

In this case, Gilmore is asking this Court to do exactly what it refused to do in the Bruno case - that is, depart from the employment at-will doctrine and recognize an implicit contractual right based upon an employer's unilateral promulgation of a policy manual. This Court has already rejected this major departure from Utah law which Gilmore urges based on the cases Toussaint v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Michigan, 292 N.W.2d 880, and Forrester v. Parker, 606 P.2d 191 (N.M. 1980).

In Toussaint, the Michigan Supreme Court stated: "We hold that employer statements of policy, such as the Blue Cross Supervisory Manual and Guidelines, can give rise to contractual rights in employees without evidence that the parties mutually agreed that the policy statements would create contractual rights in the employee, . . . ". (Emphasis added) Toussaint, 292 N.W.2d at 892. The Court of Appeals held in the Bruno case that this was not the law in Utah and that an implied contract, altering the at-will relationship, must be proven by acts or conduct manifesting the mutual assent of both parties. (Emphasis added). Bruno, 73 Utah Adv. Rep. at 90.

In Forrester, the New Mexico Supreme Court held that a personnel policy guide controlled the employment relationship, holding:

Forrester should have and did expect Parker to conform to the procedures for terminating him as spelled out in the guide. For the guide constituted an implied employment contract; the conditions and procedures provided in it bound both Forrester and Parker. (Emphasis added). Forrester v. Parker, 606 P.2d at 192.

However, the Utah Supreme Court, in the Rose case flatly rejected this departure holding that "the existence of an employment agreement not terminable at-will must be established by more than subjective understandings or expectations." Rose, 719 P.2d at 86. The Court then refused to alter the at-will doctrine to imply a term of employment to which the employer had not expressly agreed. Id. at 86-87 (explaining Bullock v. Deseret Dodge Truck Center, Inc. 11 Utah 2d 1, 354 P.2d 559 (1960)).

Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Michigan recently clarified its holding in Toussaint as follows:

Toussaint makes employment contracts which provide that an employee will not be dismissed except for cause enforceable in the same manner as other contracts. It did not recognize employment as a fundamental right or create a new "special" right. The only right held in Toussaint to be enforceable was the right that arose out of the promise not to terminate except for cause.

Employers and employees remain free to provide, or not to provide, for job security. Absent a contractual provision for job security, either the employer or the employee may ordinarily terminate an employment contract at any time for any, or no, reason. [Emphasis added.]

Valentine v. General American Credit, Inc., 420 Mich. 256, 258-59, 362 N.W. 2d 628 (1984) (footnote omitted). Thus even the Michigan Supreme Court has rejected Gilmore's argument that a personnel policy manual creates a new employment right or exception to the at-will doctrine.

Moreover, the law in the majority of states which have considered this question is that the promulgation of a policy manual does not implicitly limit the right of an employer to terminate at-will. See, e.g. McConnell v. Eastern Air Lines, Inc., 499 So.2d 68 (Fla. App. Ct. 1986); Shaw v. S.S. Kresge, Co., 167 Ind. App. 1, 328 N.E.2d 775 (1975); Heideck v. Kent General Hospital, Inc., 446 A.2d 1095 (Del. 1982); Reid v. Sears Roebuck & Co., 790 F.2d 453 (6th Cir. 1986); Johnson v. National Beef Packing Co., 220 Kan. 52, 551 P.2d 779 (1976); Schroeder v. Dayton-Hudson Corp., 448 F.Supp. 910 (E.D. Mich. 1977).

C. The Dismissal Was Also Proper Because Under Utah Law The Employer's Policies Do Not Constitute An Express Or Implied Contract As To The Duration Of Employment.

In both the Bruno and Rose cases, the Courts have recognized only two limited exceptions to the employment at-will doctrine. These two exceptions are: 1) an express or implied stipulation as to the duration of the employment, or; 2) good consideration in addition to the

services contracted to be rendered. Bruno, 73 Utah Adv. Rep. at 90; Rose, 719 P.2d at 85. Gilmore has not set forth any facts supporting an implied stipulation of the duration of employment nor has he advanced any argument that this exception applies. Actually, there are no facts in this regard. There is no evidence establishing any bargain between the parties in which both assented to be bound by S.L.C.A.P.'s unilateral promulgation of personnel policies. There is also no evidence that S.L.C.A.P. intended to relinquish its right to terminate Gilmore at will. There is absolutely no language in the personnel policies that suggests Gilmore's employment was for any term other than an indefinite term. In short, Gilmore and S.L.C.A.P. simply did not expressly or implicitly stipulate that Gilmore was employed for any definite period of time.

The opposite is true. S.L.C.A.P. unilaterally promulgated its personnel policies about four years before Gilmore was hired. Schultz Deposition at 9 & Ex. P-1. Gilmore was employed at least six months before he obtained a copy of the policies. Gilmore Deposition at 18-19. Prior to that time he does not recall being provided with the policies or discussing the policies in

relation to the terms and conditions of his employment. Id. at 8-9 & 12-13. After obtaining a copy of the policies Gilmore was simply told that he was expected to follow them in his position as employee and supervisor. Id. at 17 & 20. He does not recall any other conversation relative to the policies. Id. at 22. The Executive Director maintained a policy of advising new employees that the manual containing the policies existed, but he did not advise each one. Schultz Deposition at at 16. This evidence does not alter the fact that Gilmore was hired for an indefinite time. The parties did not expressly or implicitly stipulate that Gilmore was employed for any specific period of time. The trial Court correctly applied the law in dismissing the breach of contract claims.

In further support of his argument Gilmore relies on two Utah cases, Moore v. Utah Technical College, 727 P.2d 634 (Utah 1986), and Piacitelli v. Southern Utah State College, 636 P.2d 1063 (Utah 1981). He contends that these cases stand for the proposition that personnel policy manuals give rise to contractual rights and obligations. Actually, these cases fall within the first exception to the employment at-will doctrine. In each case, the plaintiffs were hired under a one year contract.

This contract of employment expired after one year, whereupon a new one year contract was negotiated. In other words, the plaintiff in each case was hired for a definite duration, one year, thereby explicitly excepting the employment relationship from the at-will doctrine. As a result these cases do not support Gilmore's argument. Rather, they are excellent examples of the employment at-will doctrine, demonstrating the circumstances under which the first exception to the doctrine applies.

In addition, in Piacitelli, the Utah Supreme Court did not reach the issue of whether the personnel manual was a contract. The Court was bound by res judicata because the lower Court's ruling on that issue was not appealed. Piacitelli, 636 P.2d at 1065, n. 5.

D. The Dismissal Was Proper Because Gilmore Did Not Provide Any Good Consideration In Addition To The Services Contracted To Be Rendered.

As previously explained, the only other recognized exception to the employment at-will doctrine is good consideration, that is offered and accepted, in addition to the services contracted to be rendered. Bruno, 73 Utah Adv. Rep. at 90. For instance, in the Rose case, the Utah Supreme Court held:

To satisfy the "good consideration" exception of Bihlmaier, plaintiff would have had to offer Allied, at its request, something more than what he was already obligated to do under his employment agreement, not just a continuation of the duties he was required to perform.

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